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FINLAYS CORPORATE
PHILOSOPHY

Vision
To grow Finlays profitably and sustainably by serving as the industry’s
trusted leader in the supply of tea (in all its wonderful varieties, formats
and applications), coffee and botanical extracts to the world’s beverage
brand owners.

Mission
To Connect Humanity through Natural Beverages.
Combining tradition and innovation to create a healthier, happier and
better world by bringing the best from bush to cup.

Values
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CHAIRMAN/MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S REVIEW
As in the past, your Company’s focus continued to be on value addition
with 85% of the volume exported in 2021 being in teabags and packets,
resulting in the Group achieving an EBIT from operations that was 14%
more than in 2020.
Our marketing, production and innovation teams continued to focus
on developing new formats thereby driving volume growth with greater
emphasis on promoting the brand “Pure Ceylon Tea”. Further, mainly
owing to the long-term support of our partners spread throughout the
globe we continue to be ranked amongst Sri Lanka’s top 10 exporters
in the value-added Tea segment.
We are a one-stop-shop solutions provider with a focus on driving
productivity through our operations, thereby offering exceptional levels
of service and quality consistency throughout the beverage value chain.
In 2021 too we continued with our programme to invest in modernising
our equipment, with an additional rotary-blender and fleet of reach
trucks, whilst upgrading our in-house ISO/IEC17025 accredited
laboratory with advanced testing equipment.
The year also saw the final one-third of Finlays’ investment in Vauxhall
Land Development Private Limited being disposed-of to the other joint
venture partner, marking the end of Finlays ownership of the Vauxhall

As in the past, your Company’s

Street property after almost a century of occupation. Construction of

focus continued to be on value

commenced in 2021 at Welisara, adjoining the Beverage Packing

addition with

85% of the

volume exported in 2021 being
in teabags and packets...

a modern Corporate Office complex with state-of-the-art amenities
Complex, bringing the senior management teams closer to the
Company’s primary operations. The architecture of this new office
complex captures key design elements of the Vauxhall Street premises
and incorporates some of its treasured building materials, fixtures,
fittings and artefacts, and will stand as a reminder for future generations
of the Company’s rich history and heritage spanning over 125 years in
Sri Lanka.

2021 was yet another challenging year for your
Company as well as the Country mainly due to
the COVID-19 pandemic continuing to prevail
and the onset of the economic downturn.
Despite the difficulties, the Finlays team faced
the situation with determination, resilience and
fortitude which is reflected in your Company’s
performance and results for the year, during
which both volumes and earnings were better
than the previous year.

Community Outreach
We recognise the importance of collaborating with local communities
by acting as a catalyst to deliver positive change. Being a Company
involved in the Tea industry and to commemorate Finlays 125 years
in Sri Lanka, a project was launched to repaint and refurbish Child
Development Centers (crèches/CDCs) in Tea Estates.
The project was successfully completed with the joint participation of
Tea Estate teams and parents of the children who attended these CDCs,
where a total of 65 crèches were refurbished, which included upgrading
facilities such as indoor and outdoor play equipment in some estates.
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With the reopening of schools after the pandemic, in order

I also thank our customers, some of whom have been our

to support children in need, the Company provided school

partners for decades, for their continued patronage, valuable

stationery packs containing the annual requirements for 400

feedback, and the sense of cooperation and goodwill that

children at two primary schools.

have characterised our relationships throughout the years.

The year ahead

In conclusion, I take this opportunity to thank all our

The COVID-19 pandemic is still with us albeit with a reduced
level of adverse impact, which may have an influence on your

shareholders for their continued trust and confidence
reposed in my team and me.

Company’s performance in 2022. However, the industry as
a whole will face a plethora of other challenges, such as
volatile export markets, record high tea prices, rapid rise in
inflation and cost increases in raw material, compounded by
the impacts of the macro-economic crisis.
Nonetheless, I am confident that the strength and stability
of our business model which has positioned the Company’s
diverse product portfolio in strategic global markets, together
with the resilience and determination of our employees, will
see us well equipped to take on the challenges that the
future may hold.

Change in Directorate
Mr. Dushanth Ratwatte and Mr. Guy Chambers resigned
from the Board on 28th February 2022 and 3rd June 2022
respectively, and I take this opportunity to thank Mr. Ratwatte
and Mr. Chambers for their unstinted service at Finlays and
wish them well in all their future endeavours.

Acknowledgements
We continue to live in an era of challenge and change, whilst
recovering from a global pandemic which has also caused
immense grief throughout the world, and are now in the
midst of an adverse economic environment which is taking
its toll on the citizens of our country. Our employees are
the backbone of our operations and I thank them for their
continued dedication and hard work during these trying
times, if not for whom these commendable results would not
have been possible.
To my colleagues on the Board and to the members of the
Senior Management team, I express my sincere thanks for
their valuable advice and counsel that I continue to receive.

Gihan S. Jayasinghe

Colombo
6th June, 2022
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REVIEW OF
OPERATIONS
Tea Exports
Despite a very challenging year caused mainly due to the
COVID-19 pandemic and logistics issues, the Beverage
Packing division was successful in increasing the volume of
exports by 4.3% over the previous year.
The Company invested further in acquiring new sophisticated
equipment for the ISO 17025 accredited analytical
laboratory to carry out testing and thereby further enhance
the confidence of the discerning customers of the Company.
Investments were also carried out to improve efficiency with
further automation in our blending section.

deferred tax adjustment for 2021 accounted for a reversal
of LKR 19 million. The previous year’s tax expense includes a
deferred tax charge of LKR 13 million.

Revenue
Revenue from tea exports increased by LKR 632 million
from LKR 5,612 million in 2020 to LKR 6,243 million in
2021 mainly due to increased value added tea exports.
The revenue from logistics operations increased by LKR 14
million against 2020 due to improved capacity utilisation.

Earnings Before Interest and Tax
Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) amounted to LKR

Green Tea

1,565 million compared to LKR 2,488 million the year before.

The Green Tea factory situated in Haldummulla continues

EBIT excluding profit on sale of joint venture amounted to

to produce Chinese and Japanese type green teas which

LKR 603 million against LKR 564 million in the previous year.

continue to fetch good demand from both local exporters

EBIT of Tea Exports recorded an increase of LKR 148 million

and our own overseas clientele.

mainly due to increase in volumes of value-added teabags
and packeted tea exports. However, due to the impact from

Tea Warehousing

profit from sale of investment in joint venture, the overall

As a result of increased national tea production in 2021

EBIT was lesser than the previous year. An exchange gain on

coupled with a strong marketing drive, the Warehousing

spot conversions amounting to LKR 99 million (2020: LKR

division was successful in running at optimum capacity which

39 million) has been included under finance income. The

has necessitated further investment in order to increase

EBIT of the Logistics sector recorded an increase from LKR

capacity.

60 million in 2020 to LKR 74 million in 2021.

Financial Review

Non-current Assets

The Group recorded a profit before tax of LKR 1,680 million
in 2021 (which included the profit on disposal of investment
in joint venture amounting to LKR 962 million) compared
to LKR 2,533 million in 2020 (which included the profit
on disposal of investment in joint venture amounting to
LKR 1,924 million). Profit after tax amounted to LKR 1,522
million compared to LKR 2,399 million in the previous year.
The total comprehensive income for the period under review
amounted to LKR 1,515 million compared to LKR 2,391
million in the previous year. Group turnover amounted to
LKR 6,249 million in 2021, an increase of 10% from LKR
5,656 million in 2020. Cost of sales which amounted to LKR
4,952 million, increased by 10%, from LKR 4,488 million in
the previous year. Consequently, gross profit increased by
11% to LKR 1,297 million while the gross profit to sales
ratio remained at 21%. Tax expense was LKR 158 million
compared to LKR 134 million in the previous year. The

Total non-current assets amounted to LKR 1,887 million as
at 31st December 2021 representing 22% of total assets.
Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property
amounted to LKR 1,817 million.

Working Capital
Current assets as at end 2021 amounted to LKR 6,674 million
compared to LKR 4,689 million as at the end of the previous
year. The increase is mainly due to sales proceeds from
disposal of the balance shares in the joint venture. There was
an increase in current liabilities by LKR 1,682 million to LKR
2,418 million in 2021 mainly due to the increase in amounts
due to related companies. Overall Group net working capital
increased to LKR 4,255 million, compared to LKR 3,952
million in 2020. Net cash increased from LKR 1,478 million
in 2020 to LKR 4,381 million in 2021. The current ratio of
2.8 in 2021 lessened from 6.4 in 2020. The quick ratio of 2.3
has also lessened from 5.1 reported in 2020.
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Cash Flow
The Group generated a cash inflow of LKR 816 million before
working capital changes compared to LKR 714 million in the
previous year. Cash generated from operations amounted to
LKR 134 million and the net cash inflow during the period
was LKR 2,904 million.

Capital Structure
The gearing ratio remained low, reinforcing the strength of
the balance sheet in terms of opportunity to raise funds for
future investment.

Earnings per Share (EPS)
The Group recorded an EPS at LKR 43.49 as against LKR
68.54 in 2020.
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SUSTAINABILITY
PERFORMANCE REVIEW
We at Finlays Colombo being the Sri Lankan arm of the
Finlays Group – a leading supplier of tea, coffee and botanical
extracts to the global beverage industry –strongly believe in
acting for the long term in every step we take. By doing this we
ensure that we support the environment, our people and their
communities and our customers to grow while we also grow.
Our global sustainability commitment revolves around six
strategic objectives that cover ‘bush to cup’ across all regions
of our global operations. By adoption of these objectives and
targets under the guidance of the Global Executive team,
each region ensures that we make a positive impact in the
locations we operate by responsibly addressing issues that are
material to our stakeholders.

Finlays Colombo Energy mix in 2021
1%

0%

16%
76%
5%
2%

Diesel stationary
Petrol stationary
Biomass thermal
Total diesel for transport
Total gasoline for transport
Electricity

We have identified that energy management is a key driver
for our operations. Our continuous efforts and investments
in the right infrastructure in energy efficiency improvements
resulted in a 0.9% reduction in electricity use. During the
year we completed the redesign of the boiler condensate
recovery system to improve the excess air control and the
modifications to the panner preheating system to improve
heat transfer. These were two of the medium-term actions
implemented following the recommendations of the energy
audit at our Green Tea factory. Together, both improvements
showed a 152.4 m3 fuelwood saving which resulted in a 24%
cost saving in firewood per kilo of tea manufactured.

Finlays Colombo Environment Performance
2021

Low-Impact Operations
While we recognise that effective and efficient management
of resources is important, we also acknowledge the growing
need towards mitigating global warming. All our facilities
comply with the legal requirements to operate while our
Beverage Packing facility is certified to the ISO 14001:2015
environment management system. In 2021 approximately
85% of the waste generated was diverted from landfills by
recycling and reuse. In 2017 we carried out a detailed study
on our carbon emissions and put in place a plan towards
achieving carbon neutrality.

Total energy use

GJ

35,808

Total water use

m3

17,225

Total carbon emission

Tonnes CO2e

Total waste recycled

kg

1,197
96,803
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Our People
Employee Engagement

These activities were also linked with the Finlays Values with the intention of
helping our employees and families relate to it and better understand it.

2021 can be considered one of the

The following events were organised for the children of employees:

most challenging years from an HR

a) Handicraft and creativity competition in line with Finlays Values

perspective. The COVID-19 pandemic

b) Home gardening with a social and commercial focus

was impacting human lives since end
-2019 but Sri Lanka possibly saw and
experienced the worst of it in 2021.
As the division in charge of the welfare

c) Cooking challenge to encourage healthy and low-cost meals

Gen Z Challenge Winners

and wellbeing of employees, Finlays
Sri Lanka HR has been brainstorming
since the country experienced the
first islandwide lockdown in 2020,
to find effective ways and means to
stay connected with employees and
help them maintain a positive outlook
despite the sudden restrictions faced
by all.
It was clearly evident that most
employees, who were also parents
faced many challenges trying to cope
with the

Finlays Junior Master Chef

Home Gardening Competition

sudden lockdowns where

they had to take care of their children
who were now having extraordinary
amounts of free time on their hands,
in addition to many other matters. We
realised the best way to stay connected
and keep them engaged was to roll out
activities that would help the parents
keep their children also involved.
As a result, several activities were
organised under the “Gen Z Challenge”
concept which the Company specifically
formulated keeping the Gen Z of our
employees’ children in mind. We used
various activities that had become
popular across the country during the
lockdowns such as cooking, gardening
and various handicrafts and other
creative work.

The winners were recognised in line with Finlays Values and gifted with rewards
that helped ease the burden of parents during difficult times.
In addition to the above, we also organised two competitions under the theme
“What COVID-19 was to me”. Even though we created this opportunity for individual
employees we eventually realised that the competitors were participating in small
teams that either comprised of family members or work teams. The objective of
the competition was to share with us how they utilised the free time they had on
their hands and the challenges they faced, thereby giving new meaning to the allnegative outlook on COVID-19.
The competition was divided into two episodes. The first was an art, writing and
other creative work competition, while the 2nd was a fitness episode where
employees were to show a significant improvement in some of the health-related
parameters such as blood sugar level, weight management, blood pressure, etc.
Overall, we felt that these events helped us stay connected and engaged and also
to communicate our values in an effective way.
As these were competitions we had to select winners, but the reality is that amidst
the fear and insecurity brought about by the pandemic everyone was a winner
as they discovered themselves in many new ways - which they had completely
forgotten over time.

07

08

FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Going by the feedback we received we know that these activities helped employees and their families shift attention from the
negativity and gloom of the pandemic and demonstrated to all that every dark cloud still has a silver lining.

What COVID-19 was to me (Entries received from employee families)

Contingency Management

Health & Safety

Another challenging aspect from a Human Resource
perspective in 2021 was managing employee fears and
concerns during the pandemic situation. 2021 saw the
worst of COVID-19 across the country and also within
the organisation, affecting factory employees as well as
management.

The Company places the highest priority on ensuring that
its facilities are safe for all its employees and visitors and
sees this as a key to achieving sound employee harmony and
business operational efficiency.

Many employees were becoming ill and others being
quarantined as first contacts. The issues ranged from
ensuring that the production facility would operate without
closure to finding intermediate care centres for infected
employees, from calming down the trade unions to assisting
with food supply and accommodation when employees were
asked to vacate their temporary accommodation facilities or
were stranded in rooms without food.
The entire public transportation sector of the country ceased
to operate and even after it resumed it presented a severe
infection risk. As such, transportation had to be arranged and
employees were rostered preventing cross contamination at
any point including through use of common facilities such as
restrooms and lunch rooms.
Curfew passes and PPE had to be arranged on a regular basis.
Since the vaccination program was haphazard the Company
had to arrange vaccinations within the premises as well as at
nearby locations.
These activities were all initiated and supported to ensure
that employees were well taken care of and not infected.
The care shown and given during the COVID-19 pandemic
was definitely a move towards sustainability and long-term
commitment of the organisation to its employees.

Continuous improvements in OHS Standards, best practices
and employee wellbeing have been the key factors for high
standards in Safety and Health. Similarly, the Company’s
vision is to create an injury- and illness-free workplace where
everyone goes home safe and healthy, and a commitment to
achieving zero harm across its businesses by implementing
‘best in class standards’ of health and safety.
The main contributory factors are low level of Risk–Taking
Behaviour, Trust between Management and frontline staff,
sufficient Health and Safety resources, good Contractor
Management and high levels of Competency.
We were also able to establish a positive Safety Culture
through effective reporting from staff of frontline safety
issues and problems, e.g. accidents, near misses and safety
concerns.
We were able to assign effective safety leaders who respond
to all incidents in a positive, learning way. They investigate
all reports (accidents/incidents/near misses), identifying root
causes and implementing corrective action.
This sends a strong message that knowing about anything
that goes wrong is vital to creating the conditions necessary
to eliminate the next injury. It also gives a clear message that
Management views safety performance equally important as
other business objectives.
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Active employee participation is a positive step towards
preventing and controlling hazards.
At Finlays, ownership for safety is being improved by
providing effective training and forums for employees which
assist in getting them to be personally responsible for areas
of safety. It is also made easy for staff to report concerns
about decisions that are likely to affect them and feedback
mechanisms have been established.
With the re-emergence of the secound wave of COVID-19 in
the country, Finlays Colombo has been continuing to follow
stringent H&S Guidelines that were put in place since the
onset of the virus and movements of employees and visitors
are being monitored, and upon any incidents of COVID-19
being reported, preventive actions are initiated in liaison
with the area PHI and MOH, and senior management kept
informed.
We have always advised staff to work in isolation and not to
come into close contact with one another if tested positive
or identified as first contacts.
Advanced defensive driving interwoven with cost saving
driving methods

COVID-19 Prevention and monitoring initiatives
at all locations

Reach truck / Fork-lift Operators Training and Certification

Celebreting 2,000 LTI Free days
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Fire Fighting Training and Appointment of Departmental Fire Wardens

Winners of Health and Safety Awards 2021

D

A

D

A

A
E

B
A
E

B
C
C

A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

Safety poster competition
Going the extra mile for health and safety
Safety champion
Fork-Lift operators and advanced defensive drivers
Head of the zero accidents winning team

C
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Empowered Communities
We believe in creating a positive and sustainable change in
the communities we operate in. In 2021 we committed to
co-fund a Women’s Empowerment project together with
the British Asian Trust through the Council for Business with
Britain. This project will be delivered by the Foundation for
Goodness and will benefit 127 female participants to develop
vocational skills over a period of one year, after which they
will be capable of self-employment.

A donation of bed sheets and pillows, and tea packs was
made to the newly established COVID–19 Intermediate
Care Centre at Kolonnawa - Meethotamulla on the 6th of
September 2021. This centre is managed by the Government
and many of the families who were previously residing in the
vicinity of our Vauxhall Street premises have been relocated
to this area and received treatment at this centre.

Sustainable Supply
At Finlays we recognise the increasing need to be transparent
and traceable at all levels throughout our supply chains. Our
Beverage Packing facility at Welisara continues to maintain
internationally acceptable quality and food safety standards in
addition to sustainability certifications (Rainforest, Fairtrade,
Organic (EU/USDA-NOP/JAS) and customer specified
requirements. In 2021 we achieved significant progress on
our work with our global sourcing team, brokers, and key
suppliers to establish a mechanism for 100% traceability to
accepted standards in our auction tea purchases.
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS ON THE AFFAIRS
OF THE COMPANY
The details set out herein provide the pertinent information

LKR 1,050 million during the year. Total Comprehensive

required by the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

Income for the period amounted to LKR 1,515 million (2020

Principal Activities
The Company and its subsidiaries form a diversified business
undertaking whose key activities comprise blending and
packaging tea for export. The Group is also engaged in
warehousing tea and the manufacture and export of specialty
teas such as Green Tea.

Business Review
A review of the business of the Company and its performance
during the year, with comments on financial results, is

– LKR 2,391 million).
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for 2021.

Stated Capital
The stated capital of the Company is LKR 636 million, divided
into 35 million ordinary shares. There was no change in the
Stated Capital of the Company during the year.

Reserves
Reserves of the Group as at 31st December 2021 amounted

contained in the Chairman’s Review on pages 2 and 3 of this

to LKR 5,098 million (2020 – LKR 4,632 million). The

report. These, together with the Financial Statements reflect

movement of reserves is shown in the Statement of Changes

the state of affairs of the Company and the Group.

in Equity.

The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief,

Property, Plant and Equipment

confirm that the Company has not engaged in any activities
that contravene laws and regulations.

Financial Statements

Details of Property, Plant and Equipment of the Group,
additions and disposals made during the year and depreciation
charged during the year, are shown in Note 5 to the Financial

The Financial Statements of the Company are given on pages

Statements.

20 to 58.

Events subsequent to the Reporting Date

Auditor’s Report

No significant events have occurred since the reporting

The Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements is given on

date other than those disclosed in Note 31 to the Financial

pages 18 and 19.

Statements.

Accounting Policies

Employment Policies

The Accounting Policies adopted in the preparation of the
Financial Statements are given on pages 25 to 34 There

Policies of Finlays Colombo Limited which also encompass
Finlay Properties (Pvt) Limited and Finlay Teas (Pvt) Limited

were no changes in the Accounting Policies adopted.

respect

Group Turnover/Exports

together employed 251 persons as at 31st December 2021

Group turnover amounted to LKR 6,249 million (2020 – LKR
5,656 million). An analysis of turnover is given in Note 22 to
the Financial Statements. The export turnover of the Group
amounted to LKR 6,243 million (2020 – LKR 5,612 million).

Results and Dividend
Profit before tax for the Group for the year ended 31st
December 2021 from operations decreased to LKR 1,680
million (2020 – LKR 2,533 million). The Group profit after
tax continuing operations amounted to LKR 1,522 million
(2020 – LKR 2,399 million). The Company has paid a
final dividend for 2020 of LKR 30 per share amounting to

individuals

and

provide

equal

opportunities,

irrespective of gender, race or religion. All three companies
compared to 253 as at 31st December 2020.
The Board appreciates that communication and employee
engagement is key to build trust and promote teamwork
and many opportunities are provided to interact as well
as be informed. Employees as well as their families are
encouraged to participate in many events and activities on
an annual basis. Furthermore, employees are given periodic
feedback about their individual performance as well as the
performance of the companies. Employees are encouraged
to provide feedback through various forums to improve
operational performance and working conditions.
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Training and competency development receive high priority,

(2020 – LKR 11,488,000/- which included a LKR 10 million

and ample growth opportunities are available to high

donation to the ITUKAMA COVID-19 Healthcare and

performers.

Social Security Fund). No donations were made for political

Environment, Health and Safety

purposes.

It is the Group’s policy to actively manage any adverse effects

Directorate

on the environment as a result of the Group’s operations
and to cooperate and comply with the relevant authorities

The Directors who served on the Board in the year 2021

and regulations. As part of the Group’s commitment to the

are Messrs N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe, B. V. S. Ruwan, E. D. P.

preservation of the environment, the appraisal of all significant

Soosaipillai, J. M. Rutherford, G. R. Chambers (resigned

capital expenditure projects includes an assessment of the

on 3rd June 2022), and D. J. Ratwatte (resigned on 28th

impact on the environment of such projects.

February 2022).

There is also a heightened awareness of safety, health and

Messrs B. V. S. Ruwan, E. D. P. Soosaipillai

environmental issues among all employees and it is the

and

J. M.

Rutherford retire by rotation and being eligible, offer

Group’s endeavour to achieve continuous improvement
through agreed-upon targets and to achieve Zero Harm

themselves for re-election.

across the business.

Related Party Transactions

Interests Register

The Directors have disclosed transactions (if any), that

The Company maintains a Directors’ Interests Register

could be classified as related party transactions in terms of

conforming to the provisions of the Companies Act No. 7

LKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” which is adopted in

of 2007.

the preparation of financial statements. Those transactions

The Directors of the Company have disclosed their interests

disclosed by the Directors are given in Note 36 to the

in other companies to the Board and those interests are

financial statements forming part of the Annual Report of the

recorded in the Interests Register.

Board. The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary

Corporate Donations

course of business with the following entities having one or

Donations made by the Group amounted to LKR 2,123,617/-

more Directors in common.

Director

Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford
Mr. G. R. Chambers
Mr. J. M. Rutherford

Company

Relationship

Nature of
Transaction

James Finlay Limited - UK

Common Director

Finlay Beverages Limited - UK
Finlay Extracts & Ingredients
USA, Inc.
James Finlay (Guizhou) Tea
Co. Limited

2021
LKR ‘000

2020
LKR ‘000

Management fee

24,948

24,684

Common Director

Export of Tea

10,349

29,204

Common Director

Export of Tea

184,172

243,693

Common Director

Export of Tea

17,768

-

The Directors, at their meetings, have declared all material interests in contracts involving the Company and have refrained
from voting on matters in which they were materially interested.
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Auditors

As far as the Directors are aware, the Auditors do not

In accordance with the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, a
resolution proposing the re-appointment of Messrs KPMG,

have any relationship with the Company other than those
disclosed above. The Auditors also do not have any interest

Chartered Accountants, as Auditors to the Company will be

in the Company.

submitted at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting

The Auditors, Messrs KPMG, were paid LKR 1,709,000/-

The Forty Seventh (47th) Annual General Meeting of the

as audit fees by the Group. In addition, they were paid LKR

Company will be held as an Audio or Audio/Visual Meeting

1,817,000/- by the Group for non-audit related work, which

at 309/6/A, Negombo Road, Welisara, at 11.00 a.m. on

consisted mainly of tax consultancy services.

Wednesday, 29th June 2022.
By Order of the Board

N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe
Chairman/Managing Director
Colombo
6th June, 2022

B. V. S. Ruwan
Director

S S P Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd
Company Secretary
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
N. H. G. S. JAYASINGHE
Mr. Jayasinghe joined the Group in February 2006, as the Chief Executive Officer of Finlay Cold
Storage (Pvt) Limited and was appointed a Director of the subsidiary in February 2008. Gihan was
appointed an Executive Director of Finlays Colombo Limited in November 2014, and subsequently
as Managing Director from May 2018, Deputy Chairman from September 2018 and Chairman
from January 2020. Mr. Jayasinghe presently serves as the Chairman and Managing Director of
Finlays Colombo Limited and as Country Head, Finlays – Sri Lanka.
He holds a Masters degree in Business Administration (MBA), is a Fellow of the Chartered
Management Institute - UK (FCMI) and a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport - UK (CMILT). He has served as an Executive Committee/Council Member
in the Sri Lanka branches of these institutes in various capacities including Vice Chairman of CILT
Sri Lanka. He also serves as a Council Member of the Employers’ Federation of Ceylon and has
held positions of Executive Chairman and Director of several other companies both listed and
unlisted, incorporated in Sri Lanka.

B. V. S. RUWAN
Having joined the Company in April 2020, Sinthaka was appointed an Executive Director of
Finlays Colombo Limited in November 2020.
He has over 20 years work experience in the fields of finance, administration, agri business and
supply chain management and has held positions of Executive Director in listed and unlisted
companies, incorporated in Sri Lanka.
He holds a B.Sc. in Financial Management and is a Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka.

E. D. P. SOOSAIPILLAI
Independent Non-Executive Director appointed to the Board in January 2021. Mr. Soosaipillai is
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and a Fellow of the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants of Sri Lanka.
He is the Chairman - Independent Non-Executive Director of Commercial Credit and Finance
PLC and functions as a Member of many Board sub-committees at this institution.
Mr. Soosaipillai has over 30 years of experience in Finance & Accounting, Corporate Governance,
Risk Management and Compliance, both at the operational and strategic levels. He is a Member
of the Sri Lanka Institute of Directors and is an active Member of the Audit Committee Forum and
INED Forum of SLID. Mr. Soosaipillai also served in Executive and Independent Non-Executive
Director positions in listed and unlisted companies in Sri Lanka and in the Maldives.
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J. M. RUTHERFORD
Mr. Rutherford was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Finlays Colombo Limited on 1st
February 2013 on becoming Finance Director of James Finlay Limited, London. Julian is a qualified
Chartered Accountant (ICAEW) and holds a Bachelor of Science (BSc) degree in Economics from
the University of Southampton.
Since joining Finlays he has led the acquisitions of both Autocrat (2004) and Casa Fuentes (2014)
and the disoposal of the horticulture businesses (2015). Prior to joining Finlays he qualified as a
Chartered Accountant with PwC before joining Associated British Foods, a UK listed company,
where he worked for 16 years for a variety of food businesses and in several Senior Finance roles.
Julian is the current Interim Group Managing Director of James Finlay Limited.

G. R. CHAMBERS
Mr. Chambers resigned from the Board on 3rd June 2022.

D. J. RATWATTE
Mr. Ratwatte resigned from the Board on 28th February 2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Seated, left to right:

5

4

6

1

2

3

❶

Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan, Finance Director

❷

Mr. N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe, Chairman & Managing Director

❸

Mrs. G. H. Pathirannehe, Head of Human Resources

Standing, left to right:
❹

Mr. N. D. M. Wickramaratna, Chief Operating Officer –
Beverage Packing Division

❺

Mr. M. I. R. Idroos, Manager – Health & Safety

❻

Mr. H P. S. Jayaratne, Group Financial Controller

17

18

FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial
Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Finlays Colombo
Limited, (“the Company”) and the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”), which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of
the Company and the Group give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company and the Group as of 31
December 2021, and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka
Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA Sri Lanka
(Code of Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. When we read the annual report, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SLAuSs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
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can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
based on these financial statements.
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is located at Sri Lanka
Accounting and Auditing website at: http://slaasc.com/
auditing/auditorsresponsibility.php. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements
As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No.
07 of 2007, we have obtained all the information and
explanations that were required for the audit and as far as
appears from our examination, proper accounting records
have been kept by the Company.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Colombo, Sri Lanka
6th June, 2022
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December

Group

Company

Note

2021

2020

2021

2020

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Other investments
Defined benefits plan assets
Total non-current assets

5
6
7
8
9
18.1

1,622,514
194,946
17,575
1,986
49,889
1,886,910

1,471,558
194,946
20,826
1,868
50,804
1,740,002

859,562
16,630
238,080
87,532
49,889
1,251,693

693,941
19,881
238,080
87,414
50,804
1,090,120

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from related companies
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

10
11
12
13.1
14

1,004,349
1,039,640
4,629,673
6,673,662

903,869
219,223
42,181
1,494,337
2,028,953
4,688,563

952,958
925,603
4,595,670
6,474,231

885,619
139,710
42,181
1,440,329
2,876,051
5,383,890

8,560,572

6,428,565

7,725,924

6,474,010

15.2
16

636,194
258,577
4,839,901
5,734,672

636,194
258,577
4,373,922
5,268,693

636,194
258,273
3,894,421
4,788,888

636,194
258,273
4,426,661
5,321,128

17
18.2
19

272,368
115,727
19,500
407,595

291,918
112,207
19,500
423,625

46,853
115,727
162,580

38,185
112,207
150,392

861,008
75,648
1,233,244
248,405
2,418,305

663,831
55,702
105
16,609
736,247

834,725
57,549
1,633,777
248,405
2,774,456

631,646
40,480
313,755
16,609
1,002,490

Total liabilities

2,825,900

1,159,872

2,937,036

1,152,882

Total equity and liabilities

8,560,572

6,428,565

7,725,924

6,474,010

LKR ‘000

Assets

Total assets

Equity

Stated capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Defined benefits obligations
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Amounts due to related companies
Bank overdrafts
Total current liabilities

20
21
13.2

The financial statements are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

H. P. S. Jayaratne

Group Financial Controller
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements.
Signed for and on behalf of the Board by,

N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe

Chairman/Managing Director

B. V. S. Ruwan

Finance Director

The notes on pages 25 through 58 form an integral part of the financial statements.
Colombo
6th June, 2022
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December

Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Revenue

22

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other income

23

Distribution expenses

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

6,248,743

5,655,862

6,000,148

5,477,076

(4,952,191)

(4,488,254)

(4,881,718)

(4,468,142)

1,296,552

1,167,608

1,118,430

1,008,934

1,051,170

1,972,241

199,885

251,716

(209,195)

(137,588)

(206,397)

(135,747)

Administrative expenses

(573,140)

(514,625)

(548,203)

(469,171)

Results from operating activities

1,565,387

2,487,636

563,715

655,732

Finance income

24.1

151,669

84,405

158,513

91,201

Finance cost

24.2

(36,617)

(39,448)

(36,617)

(39,400)

115,052

44,957

121,896

51,801

1,680,439

2,532,593

685,611

707,533

(158,298)

(133,550)

(161,689)

(103,112)

1,522,141

2,399,043

523,922

604,421

(6,903)

(8,441)

(6,903)

(8,441)

(6,903)

(8,441)

(6,903)

(8,441)

1,515,238

2,390,602

517,019

595,980

1,522,141

2,399,043

523,922

604,421

1,522,141

2,399,043

523,922

604,421

1,515,238

2,390,602

517,019

595,980

1,515,238

2,390,602

517,019

595,980

Net finance income
Profit before tax

Tax expense

26

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

18.6

Other comprehensive Expenses for the year, Net of Tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (LKR)

27.1

43.49

68.54

14.97

17.27

Diluted earnings per share (LKR)

27.2

43.49

68.54

14.97

17.27

The notes on pages 25 through 58 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - GROUP
For the year ended 31 December

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Stated
capital

General
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

636,194
636,194

258,577
258,577

9,017,573
747
9,018,320

9,912,344
747
9,913,091

-

-

2,399,043

2,399,043

-

-

(8,441)
2,390,602

(8,441)
2,390,602

636,194

258,577

(1,050,000)
(5,985,000)
(7,035,000)
4,373,922

(1,050,000)
(5,985,000)
(7,035,000)
5,268,693

Balance as at 1 January 2021

636,194

258,577

4,373,922

5,268,693

Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets

636,194

258,577

741
4,374,663

741
5,269,434

-

-

1,522,141

1,522,141

-

-

(6,903)
1,515,238

(6,903)
1,515,238

636,194

258,577

(1,050,000)
(1,050,000)
4,839,901

(1,050,000)
(1,050,000)
5,734,672

LKR ‘000

Note

Balance as at 01 January 2020
Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 2020
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses
Total comprehensive income for the year

18.6

Transactions with owners
Dividends - Interim 2020
Interim 2020
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2020

28
28

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 2021
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses
Total comprehensive income for the year

18.6

Transactions with owners
Dividends - Final 2020
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2021

28

The notes on pages 25 through 58 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December

LKR ‘000

Note

Balance as at 01 January 2020
Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets

Stated capital

General
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total equity

636,194

258,273

10,864,934

11,759,401

-

-

747

747

636,194

258,273

10,865,681

11,760,148

-

-

604,421

604,421

-

-

(8,441)

(8,441)

-

-

595,980

595,980

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the Year 2020
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

18.6

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Dividends - Interim 2020

28

- Interim 2020

28

Total transactions with owners

(1,050,000)

(1,050,000)

(5,985,000)

(5,985,000)

-

-

(7,035,000)

(7,035,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2020

636,194

258,273

4,426,661

5,321,128

Balance as at 1 January 2021

636,194

258,273

4,426,661

5,321,128

-

-

741

741

636,194

258,273

4,427,402

5,321,869

-

-

523,922

523,922

-

-

(6,903)

(6,903)

-

-

517,019

517,019

-

-

(1,050,000)

(1,050,000)

-

-

(1,050,000)

(1,050,000)

636,194

258,273

3,894,421

4,788,888

Deferred tax effect on fully depreciated assets
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 2021
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefits plan actuarial losses

18.6

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transactions with owners
Dividends - Final 2020
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2021

28

The notes on pages 25 through 58 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December

Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit before tax expense
Adjustments for
Depreciation
Amortisation
Income from investments
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment in equity accounted investee
(Gain)/Loss on forward contracts
Finance costs
Gratuity provision

5
7
24.1
23
23
24.2

Changes in
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Finance costs paid
Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of investment in equity accounted
investee
Acquisition of investments
Investment in other long term assets - gratuity
Interest received
Dividend received
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from disposal of HPL & UPL
Dividends paid
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5
7

28

13
13

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

1,680,439

2,532,593

685,611

707,533

96,099
95,709
3,251
2,987
(52,751)
(45,016)
(491)
(1,271)
1,711
(962,140) (1,923,703)
1,933
36,617
37,515
13,062
13,071
815,797
713,818

79,520
3,251
(59,595)
(342)
1,711
(115,042)
36,617
13,062
644,793

77,626
2,987
(51,812)
(1,271)
(205,015)
1,933
37,467
13,071
582,519

(100,480)
(778,237)
197,177
134,257
(36,617)
(157,159)
(59,519)

243,281
129,380
114,277
1,200,756
(37,515)
(71,440)
1,091,801

(67,339)
(743,711)
289,962
123,704
(36,617)
(135,211)
(48,124)

213,130
164,381
196,085
1,156,115
(37,467)
(51,963)
1,066,685

(248,774)
499
2,991,093

(92,103)
(23,813)
9,280
5,980,392

(246,904)
395
2,991,093

(83,742)
(22,868)
9,130
5,980,392

(118)
(15,531)
52,751
2,779,920

(6,894)
(15,300)
45,016
5,896,578

(118)
(15,531)
52,751
6,844
2,788,530

(6,894)
(15,300)
44,968
6,844
5,912,530

1,233,139
(1,050,000) (7,035,000)
183,139 (7,035,000)
2,903,540
1,477,728
4,381,268

The notes on pages 25 through 58 form an integral part of the financial statements.

(46,621)
1,524,349
1,477,728

1,233,139
(1,050,000) (7,035,000)
183,139 (7,035,000)
2,923,545
1,423,720
4,347,265

(55,785)
1,479,505
1,423,720

FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

01. Corporate Information
1.1 General
Finlays Colombo Limited (“Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka. The
registered office and the principal place of business is
situated at 309/6/A, Negombo Road, Welisara, Ragama.
In the Annual Report of the Board of Directors and in the
financial statements, “the Company” refers to Finlays
Colombo Limited as the holding company and “the Group”
refers to the companies whose accounts have been
consolidated therein.
All financial information in the financial statements is in Sri
Lanka rupees thousands (LKR 000s) unless otherwise stated.

1.2 Principal Activities
Company
During the year, the principal activities of the Company were
tea blending and packing for export.
Group
During the year under review, the principal activities of the
Group were tea blending and packing for export, warehousing
of tea, and the manufacture and export of specialty teas such
as Green Tea.

1.3 Parent Enterprise and Ultimate Parent Enterprise
The Company’s parent undertaking is James Finlay Limited,
London. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s
ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is John
Swire & Sons Limited, which is incorporated in England.

1.4 Authorisation of Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 6th June
2022.

1.5 Going Concern
The Directors have made an assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and being satisfied that it
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future, confirmed that they do not intend either to liquidate
or to cease operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Furthermore, Management is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue
to be prepared on a going concern basis.
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has increased the
estimation uncertainty in the preparation of these financial
statements.
The estimation uncertainty is associated with:
n the extent and duration of the disruption to business

arising from the actions by governments, businesses and
consumers to contain the spread of the virus;
n the extent and duration of the expected economic

downturn (and forecasts for key economic factors
including GDP, employment and house prices). This
includes the disruption to capital markets, deteriorating
credit, liquidity concerns, increasing unemployment,
declines in consumer discretionary spending, reductions
in production because of decreased demand, and other
restructuring activities; and
n the effectiveness of Government and Central Bank

measures that have and will be put in place to support
businesses and consumers through this disruption and
economic downturn.
The Group has developed various accounting estimates in
these financial statements based on forecasts of economic
conditions which reflect expectations and assumptions
as at 31 December 2021 about future events that the
Directors believe are reasonable in the circumstances.
There is a considerable degree of judgement involved in
preparing forecasts. The underlying assumptions are also
subject to uncertainties which are often outside the control
of the Group. Accordingly, actual economic conditions are
likely to be different from those forecast since anticipated
events frequently do not occur as expected, and the effect
of those differences may significantly impact accounting
estimates included in these financial statements. The
significant accounting estimates impacted by these forecasts
and associated uncertainties are predominantly related
to expected credit losses, fair value measurement, and
recoverable amount assessments of non-financial assets.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on each of these
accounting estimates was discussed further in the relevant
notes to these financial statements. In preparing these
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

financial statements, the management has assessed the
existing and anticipated effect of COVID–19 on the Group
and the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis
of preparation giving special attention to the business sector
based on available information and the short- to mediumterm economic outlook. The Group has been evaluating
the resilience of its business, considering a wide range of
factors such as expected revenue streams, profitability, cost
management initiatives implemented by the Group, changes
in working capital, management of capital expenditure, debt
repayments, cash reserves and available sources of financing
including unutilsed facilities and in order to be able to
continue business under current global economic conditions.
Having evaluated the presentations made by the Group
on their future outlook, the Directors are satisfied that the
Group has adequate resources to continue its operations at
least, but not limited to, 12 months from the reporting date,
to justify adopting the going concern basis in preparing these
financial statements.

1.6 Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the
Income Statement unless required or permitted by Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards and as specifically disclosed in the
Significant Accounting Policies of the Group.

Accountants of Sri Lanka and the requirements of the
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

2.2 Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the following material items in
the statement of financial position:
n The defined benefit asset is recognised as plan assets,

plus unrecognised past service cost, less the present
value of the defined benefit obligation.
n Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair

value.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Sri Lankan Rupees (LKR), which is the Group’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in LKR has been
rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise
indicated.

2.4 Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with SLFRSs/LKASs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is
included in the following notes:

02. Basis of Preparation
2.1 Statement of Compliance
The statement of financial position, statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows, together
with accounting policies and notes (“Financial Statements”)
of the Group as at 31st December 2021 and for the year
then ended, comply with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards
(SLFRSs/LKASs) as laid down by the Institute of Chartered

n Note 6 - Investment property

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment within the next financial year is included in the
following notes:
n Note 17 - Deferred taxation
n Note 18 - Defined benefits
n Note 30 - Contingencies
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December

03. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all
the Group entities.

3.1 Basis of Consolidation
3.1.1 Business Combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group.
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for
impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed
as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at
the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial
instrument is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured,
and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

3.1.2 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases.

3.1.3 Loss of Control
On the loss of control, the Group de-recognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests and the other components of equity related to the
subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest
in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at
fair value at the date that control is lost.

Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted
investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending
on the level of influence retained.

3.1.4 Non-Controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

3.1.5 Investments in Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the
Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and
operating decisions.
They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share
of the profit and loss and other comprehensive income
of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which
significant influence or joint control ceases. During the
year under review, the Company disposed of the remaining
ownership in Vauxhall Land Development Private Limited.

3.1.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

3.2 Foreign Currency
3.2.1 Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the
respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are re-translated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised
cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year
and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the year.
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Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are re-translated
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a
foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on re-translation are
recognised in profit or loss.

3.3 Financial Instruments
3.3.1 Financial Assets
Initial Recognition and Measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially
recognised when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) or financial liability is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL
(Fair value through profit or loss), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial
Assets
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified
as amortised cost; FVOCI (Fair value through other
comprehensive income) debt investment; FVOCI - equity
investment; or FVTPL (Fair value through profit or loss).
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
FVTPL:
n it is held within a business model whose objective is to

hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
n its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL:
n it is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and
n its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in
Other Comprehensive Income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial
recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.
Re-classification of Financial Assets
Re-classification of financial assets is required if the Group
changes its business model for managing those financial
assets. Re-classification is applied prospectively from the
date of the re-classification.
De-recognition of Financial Assets
On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the carrying amount (measured at the
date of de-recognition) and the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) shall be recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment
Financial Instruments and Contract Assets
The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit
Losses (ECLs) on:
n financial assets measured at amortised cost;
n debt investments measured at FVOCI; and the Group

measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-month ECLs:
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n debt securities that are determined to have low credit

risk at the reporting date; and
n other debt securities and bank balances for which credit

risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.
Loss allowances for trade receivables is always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward looking
information.
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

assets. For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is
charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.

3.3.2 Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities are initially recognised only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value. The Group’s financial liabilities include
trade and other payables. After initial recognition, interestbearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. A financial liability is de-recognised only
when it is extinguished - i.e. when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

3.3.3 Stated Capital
3.3.3.1 Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
3.4.1 Recognition and Measurement

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of certain items of property, plant and
equipment was determined by reference to a previous
SLASs revaluation. The Group elected to apply the optional
exemption to use this previous revaluation as deemed cost
at 1 January 2011, the date of transition.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life
of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located and borrowing costs on qualifying assets.

n the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to

the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
n the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at
the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Presentation
of Allowance for ECL in the Statement of Financial Position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment, and are recognised net within other income
in profit or loss.
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3.4.2 Subsequent Costs

3.5 Investment Property

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is de-recognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

Investment property is property held either to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

3.4.2.1 Fully Depreciated Assets
If an entity uses, for the purpose of deriving economic
benefits, fully depreciated assets, then the entity shall bring
such assets back on its statement of financial position.
The entity shall estimate the remaining useful life of
such assets and shall reinstate the cost and accumulated
depreciation at amounts which would have been reflected
in the balance sheet on the date of reinstatement had the
entity measured depreciation from date of acquisition of the
assets based on the total useful life including the estimated
remaining useful life and adjust the difference under equity.

3.4.3 Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount,
which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted
for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset.
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease
term. Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:
Buildings

- 67 years

Plant & Machinery

- 10 to 20 years

Factory and other Equipment

- 5 to 10 years

Furniture, Fittings & Office Equipment

- 4 to 7 years

Motor Vehicles

- 4 years

Pallets

- 2 to 4 years

Investment property is measured at cost. When the use of
a property changes such that it is reclassified as property,
plant and equipment, its carrying value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

3.6 Lease Assets
Previously, the Group classified property leases as operating
leases under LKAS 17. On transition, for these leases, lease
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
Right-of-use Assets are measured at either:
n their carrying amount as if SLFRS 16 had been applied

since the commencement date, discounted using the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application: The Group applied this approach to its
largest property lease; or
n an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the

amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments: The
Group applied this approach to all other leases.
The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment
on the date of transition and has concluded that there is no
indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
a consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in SLFRS 16.
This policy is applied to contracts entered into on or after 1
January 2019.
Allocation of Consideration
At commencement or on modification of a contract that
contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.
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The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the
straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the rightof-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-ofuse asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, at the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by
obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms
of the lease and type of the asset leased.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following:
n fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
n variable lease payments that depend on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
n amounts expected to be payable under a residual value

guarantee; and
n the exercise price under a purchase option that the

Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties
for early termination of a lease unless the Group is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in
the statement of financial position.
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured
at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

3.7 Intangible Assets
3.7.1 Recognition and measurement
Intangible assets are acquired by the Group and have finite
useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

3.7.2 Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embedded in the specific asset
to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

3.7.3 Useful economic lives, amortisation, and impairment
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to
modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate,
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and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss in the expense
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible
assets.

3.7.4 Software
All computer software cost incurred, which are not internally
related to associate hardware, which can be clearly identified,
reliably measured and it is probable that they will lead to
future economic benefits, are included in the Statement of
Financial Position under the category of intangible assets
and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Software in intangible assets consists of the Microsoft license,
AutoCAD, Adobe Photoshop, Illustrator and Acrobat, WINCC
software and Firewall software system upgrade acquired by
the Group. The estimated useful lives for software – 4 to 8
years.

3.7.5 De-recognition
An intangible asset is de-recognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any
gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss when
the asset is de-recognised. There were no intangible assets
pledged by the Group as security for facilities obtained from
the banks (2020 - Nil).

3.8 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out or weighted average principle, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production
or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing
them to their existing location and condition.
In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress,
cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads
based on normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

3.9 Employee Benefits
3.9.1 Retirement Benefit Obligations
3.9.1.1 Defined Benefit Plan – Gratuity
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan
other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net
obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to
determine its present value. The retirement benefit plan
adopted is as required under the Payment of Gratuity Act
No.12 of 1983.
Provision for gratuity on the employees of the Company
and Group is based on actuarial valuation as recommended
by Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No.19 ‘Employee
Benefits’ (LKAS-19). The actuarial valuation was carried
out by a professionally qualified firm of actuaries, as at 31
December 2021. The valuation method used by the actuary
is “Projected Unit Credit Method”. The Group recognises any
actuarial gains and losses arising from the defined benefit
plan immediately in other comprehensive income and all
expenses related to the defined benefit plan in personnel
expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
3.9.1.2 Defined Contribution Plan – MSPS/EPF/ETF
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee
benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees. Employees are eligible
for Mercantile Service Provident Society Fund contributions
or Employees’ Provident Fund contributions and Employees’
Trust Fund contributions in line with respective statutes and
regulations.

3.9.2 Short-Term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided.

3.10 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
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Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is
recognised as finance cost.

3.11 Revenue
3.11.1 Revenue Recognition
SLFRS 15 established a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. Under SLFRS 15, revenue is recognised when
a customer obtains control of the goods or services.
Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point
in time or over time – requires judgement. Under SLFRS 15,
revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognition will not occur.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and associated costs incurred or to be incurred
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable net of trade
discounts and sales taxes after eliminating sales within the
Group.
The following specific criteria are used for the purpose of
recognition of revenue:
a) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary
activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and
volume rebates.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer; with the Group retaining neither
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.
b) Rendering of Services
Warehousing Income.
Income from warehousing is calculated by reference to the
time period of the contract, on an accrual basis.
c) Rental Income
Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

d) Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised on a cash basis.

3.12 Finance Income and Finance Costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested
and dividend income. Interest income is recognised as it
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on cash basis.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and
export bills discounting.
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest
method.

3.13 Taxes
Current Tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date.
The provision for income tax is based on the elements of
the income and expenditure as reported in the financial
statements and computed in accordance with the provisions
of the Inland Revenue Amendment Act 10 of 2021.
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity
is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Turnover based Taxes
Turnover based taxes include Value Added Tax (VAT), in
respect of trading activities. Companies in the Group pay
such taxes in accordance with the respective statutes.
IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The interpretation is to be applied to the determination of
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments under LKAS 12. It does not apply
to taxes or levies outside the scope of LKAS 12 nor does
it specifically include requirements relating to interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
However, the application of IFRIC 23 did not have an impact
on the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

3.14 Discontinued Operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:
n represents a separate major line of business or

geographic area of operations;
n is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a

separate major line of business or geographic area of
operations; or
n is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the
earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held-for-sale.
When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation,
the comparative statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation
had been discontinued from the start of the comparative
year.

3.15 Segment Reporting
The Group has two reportable segments, as described
below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. The
strategic divisions offer different products and services
and are managed separately because they require different
technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic
divisions, the Group’s Managing Director (the chief operating
decision maker) reviews internal management reports on at
least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments.

n Tea exports - Tea blending and packing for export,

manufacture and export of speciality teas such as green
tea.
n Logistics - Warehousing of tea.

04. New Standards issued but not effective
as at reporting date
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka has
issued a number of new amendments to Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards (SLFRSs/LKASs) that are effective for annual
periods beginning after the current financial year. However,
the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these
financial statements.
The following amended standards are not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group financial statements.
n COVID–19 related Rent concessions beyond 30 June

2021 (Amendment to SLFRS 16)
n Onerous Contracts – Cost of fulfilling a contract

(Amendments to LKAS 37)
n Annual Improvements to SLFRS Standards 2018-2020
n Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before

intended use (Amendment to LKAS 16)
n Reference to Conceptual framework (Amendments to

SLFRS 3)
n Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

(Amendments to LKAS 1)
n SLFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to

SLFRS 17 Insurance contracts
n Definition of Accounting estimates (Amendments to

LKAS 8)
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05. Property, plant and equipment
5.1 Group
LKR ‘000

Land

Buildings

Plant &
machinery

Furniture,
fittings
& office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Pallets

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January 2021

382,733

535,475

1,077,564

646,394

35,025

20,241

65,226

2,762,658

Additions

-

-

-

13,215

490

389

234,680

248,774

Disposals

-

(78,735)

(3,671)

(6,639)

(266)

-

(1,711)

(91,022)

Transfers from C.W.I.P

-

-

7,144

82,509

-

-

(89,653)

-

Classification change

-

-

170,777

(170,882)

(61)

-

-

(166)

382,733

456,740

1,251,814

564,597

35,188

20,630

208,542

2,920,244

Balance at 1 January 2021

-

171,606

543,868

527,256

28,188

20,182

-

1,291,100

Charge for the year

-

9,633

47,501

35,987

2,863

115

-

96,099

Disposals

-

(78,735)

(3,671)

(6,632)

(266)

-

-

(89,304)

Classification change

-

-

115,208

(114,882)

(537)

-

-

(165)

Balance at 31 December 2021

-

102,504

702,906

441,730

30,247

20,297

-

1,297,730

At 1 January 2021

382,733

363,869

533,696

119,138

6,837

59

65,226

1,471,558

At 31 December 2021

382,733

354,236

548,908

122,868

4,940

333

208,542

1,622,514

Balance at 31 December 2021

Depreciation

Carrying amounts

5.2

Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount of LKR 718 million
(2020 - LKR 696 million).

5.3

Based on the assessment carried out internally by the Board of Directors, no provision was required for the potential
impairment of fixed assets as at 31 December 2021.

5.4

There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the
year (2020 - Nil).

5.5

There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as security as at 31 December 2021.

5.6

Capital work-in-progress is comprised of the expenditure incurred relating to the building under construction in
Welisara.
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05. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.)

5.7 Company
LKR ‘000

Buildings

Plant &
machinery

Furniture,
fittings
& office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

56,051

1,132,905

407,509

25,965

63,642

1,686,072

Additions

-

-

11,995

490

234,419

246,904

Disposals

(56,051)

-

(6,639)

(266)

(1,711)

(64,667)

Transfers from C.W.I.P

-

-

82,379

-

(82,379)

-

Classification change

-

(170,777)

170,882

61

-

166

Balance at 31 December 2021

-

962,128

666,126

26,251

213,971

1,868,475

56,051

563,971

353,368

18,741

-

992,131

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January 2021

Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2021
Charge for the year

-

41,443

35,302

2,775

-

79,520

(56,051)

-

(6,632)

(266)

-

(62,948)

Classification change

-

115,208

(114,882)

(537)

-

(211)

Balance at 31 December 2021

-

490,206

496,919

21,788

-

1,008,913

At 1 January 2021

-

568,934

54,141

7,224

63,642

693,941

At 31 December 2021

-

471,922

169,206

4,463

213,971

859,562

Disposals

Carrying amounts

5.8

Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets having a gross carrying amount of LKR 556 million
(2020 - LKR 535 million).

5.9

Based on the assessment carried out internally by the Board of Directors, no provision was required for the potential
impairment of fixed assets as at 31 December 2021.

5.10 There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the
year (2020 - Nil).

5.11 There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as security as at 31 December 2021.
5.12 Capital work-in-progress is comprised of the expenditure incurred relating to the building under construction in
Welisara.
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06. Investment property
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

194,946

194,946

-

-

-

-

-

-

194,946

194,946

-

-

Balance at 1 January

-

-

-

-

Charge for the year

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31 December

-

-

-

-

194,946

194,946

-

-

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Balance at 31 December

Amortisation

Net carrying amount

6.1 The Group has earned LKR 57.5 million for the year ended 31st December 2021 (2020: LKR 57.5 million) as rental
income from the above investment properties.

6.2 The Group has incurred no expenses as direct operating expenses (including repair and maintenance) arising from
investment property for the year ended 31 December 2021.

6.3 The Group investment property includes Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd land leased out to Emergent Cold (Pvt) Ltd. Land
including those classified as investment properties was revalued as at 30 June 2018 by Mr. P. P. T. Mohideen, an
independent valuer.

6.4 The Group land and buildings including those classified as investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2010 by Mr. P. W. De S. Senaratne, an independent valuer. Such values have been taken as deemed cost of both
property, plant & equipment and investment properties as at 01 January 2011.

6.5 A revaluation of Group land was carried out during the year 2015 by Mr. P. P. T. Mohideen, an independent valuer.
According to this valuation the market value of the land owned by the Group is LKR 937 million.
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07. Intangible assets
Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

22,868

-

22,868

-

-

22,868

-

22,868

22,868

22,868

22,868

22,868

Software
Cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Balance at 31 December

Amortisation
Balance at 1 January

2,987

-

2,987

-

Amortisation for the year

3,251

2,987

3,251

2,987

Balance at 31 December

6,238

2,987

6,238

2,987

16,630

19,881

16,630

19,881

945

945

-

-

17,575

20,826

16,630

19,881

Net book value

Capital work in progress

7.1

Net carrying amount

7.1

Capital work-in-progress is comprised of the expenditure incurred relating to the new warehouse management
system under development in Welisara.

08. Investments in subsidiaries
Company
LKR ‘000

Holding %

2021

2020

Non-quoted
Finlay Airline Agencies (Pvt) Ltd

100

50

50

Finlay Tea Solutions Colombo (Pvt) Ltd

100

200

200

Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd

100

37,000

37,000

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd

100

200,830

200,830

Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd

100

Total Non-Quoted Investments in Subsidiaries

Provision for impairment (Note 8.1)

500

500

238,580

238,580

(500)

(500)

238,080

238,080

500

500

500

500

8.1 Provision for impairment - investments in subsidiaries
Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd
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09. Other investments, including derivatives
Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

1,986

1,868

1,986

1,868

-

-

85,546

85,546

1,986

1,868

87,532

87,414

9.1 Non-current
Fixed deposits
Debt securities

9.2

9.2

Interest-bearing financial assets represent the investment in cumulative preference shares of Finlay Properties (Pvt)
Ltd (subsidiary company) with a carrying amount of LKR 85.5 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: LKR 85.5
million), which have a stated preference dividend rate of 6.5% p.a. These shares can be redeemed at the option of
the holder (Finlays Colombo Limited).

9.3

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to other investments are disclosed in Note 37.3

10. Inventories
Group
LKR ‘000

Tea stocks
Packing materials
Others
Less: Provision for slow moving & obsolete stocks

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

892,810
109,566
62,376
1,064,752
(60,403)
1,004,349

812,660
74,924
59,616
947,200
(43,331)
903,869

843,453
108,944
60,964
1,013,361
(60,403)
952,958

796,081
74,388
58,481
928,950
(43,331)
885,619

10.1 There were no inventories pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2021.

11. Trade and other receivables
Group
LKR ‘000

Trade debtors
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
Other debtors
Advances and pre-payments

11.1

Company

Note

2021

2020

2021

2020

11.1

819,742
(24,366)
795,376

60,948
(24,368)
36,580

818,076
(24,046)
794,030

59,347
(24,046)
35,301

234,845
9,419
1,039,640

170,398
12,245
219,223

123,108
8,465
925,603

93,135
11,274
139,710

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks related to trade & other receivables are disclosed in Note 37.3
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12. Amounts due from related companies
Group
LKR ‘000

Hapugastenne Plantations PLC (Note 12.1)
James Finlay Plantation Holdings Lanka Ltd

Relationship

Affiliate
Affiliate

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

-

41,581
600
42,181

-

41,581
600
42,181

12.1 During the year under review James Finlay Limited, UK (parent company ) disposed its total ownership in Hapugastenne
Plantations PLC (HPL) and Udapussellawa Plantations PLC (UPL) on 27th December 2021. Hence, as at the year end
the balance receivable from HPL has been classified under Trade Debtors.

13. Cash and cash equivalents
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

4,629,673

1,494,337

4,595,670

1,440,329

(248,405)

(16,609)

(248,405)

(16,609)

4,381,268

1,477,728

4,347,265

1,423,720

2021

2020

2021

2020

-

2,028,953

-

2,876,051

-

2,028,953

-

2,876,051

13.1 Favourable cash and cash equivalent balances
Cash and bank balances

13.2 Unfavourable bank balances
Bank overdrafts (unsecured)
Net cash and cash equivalent for the purpose of cash flow statement

14. Assets held for sale
Group
LKR ‘000

Investment in joint venture

14.1

Company

Finlays Colombo Limited signed a joint venture agreement with Whittal Boustead (Private) Limited and JK Land
(Private) Limited, for the development of its freehold property of 595.91 perches at 186, Vauxhall Street, Colombo 2
on 12th March 2018. Following the signing of the joint venture agreement, Finlays Colombo Limited transferred its
land to Vauxhall Land Development Private Limited (VLDPL), a Company owned by the partners in the joint venture,
in consideration for which VLDPL issued 860,206,224 shares at LKR 10.00 per share, amounting to 39.72% of its
share capital to Finlays Colombo Limited.
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14. Assets held for sale (Contd.)

14.2

In 2019, VLDPL issued 1,763,316 shares at LKR 10.00 per share bringing the total number of shares owned by
Finlays Colombo Limited to 861,969,540 shares. In 2020, VLDPL issued 673,296 shares at LKR 10.00 per share
bringing the total number of shares owned by Finlays Colombo Limited to 862,642,835 shares.

14.3

Finlays Colombo Limited disposed 66.66% of its ownership in VLDPL on 24th September 2020. The balance
ownership in VLDPL was sold on 30th September 2021. Disposal gain has been recognised under other income
(Note 23).

15. Stated Capital
Group and Company
‘000

2021

2020

At the beginning of the year

35,000

35,000

At the end of the year

35,000

35,000

15.1 Number of ordinary shares issued and fully paid

Group and Company
LKR ‘000

2021

2020

At the beginning of the year

636,194

636,194

At the end of the year

636,194

636,194

15.2 Value of issued and fully paid ordinary shares

15.3

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at a meeting of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

16. Reserves
Group

Company

LKR ‘000

Note

2021

2020

2021

2020

Revenue reserves

16.1

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

258,577

258,577

258,273

258,273

16.1 Revenue reserves
General reserve

General reserve which is a revenue reserve represents the amounts set aside by the Directors for general application.
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17. Deferred tax liabilities
Group
LKR ‘000

Balance at the beginning of the period

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

291,918

279,545

38,185

32,355

(741)

(747)

(741)

(747)

(18,809)

13,120

9,409

6,577

-

-

-

-

272,368

291,918

46,853

38,185

Recognised in the statement of profit or loss
Reinstatement of fully depreciated asset
Origination/(reversal) of temporary difference
Disposal of subsidiary
Balance at the end of the period

2021
LKR ‘000

2020

Liability

Net

Liability

Net

Property, plant and equipment

272,368

272,368

291,918

291,918

Net deferred tax liability

272,368

272,368

291,918

291,918

Property, plant and equipment

46,853

46,853

38,185

38,185

Net deferred tax liability

46,853

46,853

38,185

38,185

17.1 Deferred tax liabilities - Group

17.2 Deferred tax liabilities - Company

18. Defined benefits
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

2,512

2,512

2,512

2,512

47,377

48,292

47,377

48,292

49,889

50,804

49,889

50,804

18.1 Defined benefits plan assets
Employees joined before 1992/93
- Eagle Mutual Fund
Employees joined after 1992/93
- Plan assets
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18. Defined benefits (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

880

880

880

880

114,847

111,327

114,847

111,327

115,727

112,207

115,727

112,207

18.2 Defined benefit obligations
Employees joined before 1992/93
- Present value of funded obligations
Employees joined after 1992/93
- Present value of funded obligations

Retiring gratuity is a defined benefit plan - covering employees of the Group. The Group’s liability arising on retirement
benefits of employees who joined prior to 1992/93 is externally funded and this had been invested in Eagle Mutual Funds.
Subsequent to 1992, the externally funded policy purchased from AIA Insurance Lanka PLC, covers 251 (2020 - 255)
employees attached to the Group.
An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at 31 December 2021 by Mr. M. Poopalanathan attached to Actuarial and
Management Consultants (Pvt) Limited.
The valuation method used by the actuary is the “Projected Unit Credit Method”, the method recommended by LKAS 19
‘Employee Benefits’. The premium for the current year is LKR 68.3 million (2020 LKR 63.9 million).
The results of the actuarial valuation indicate the following, which have been accounted for;
Group
LKR ‘000

Fair value of the plan assets
Present value of funded obligations
Present value of net obligation

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

47,377

48,292

47,377

48,292

(114,847)

(111,327)

(114,847)

(111,327)

(67,470)

(63,035)

(67,470)

(63,035)

The above net obligation has been provided for in the financial statements.
Group
LKR ‘000

2021

Company
2020

2021

2020

18.3 Movement in fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year

48,292

50,550

48,292

50,550

Contribution paid into the plan

15,531

15,300

15,531

15,300

Expected return on plan assets

4,346

5,561

4,346

5,561

Benefits paid/payable by the plan
Actuarial gains / (losses) on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

The above amount is invested with AIA Insurance Lanka PLC.

(6,422)

(25,100)

(6,422)

(25,100)

(14,369)

1,981

(14,369)

1,981

47,377

48,292

47,377

48,292
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18. Defined benefits (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

111,327

107,373

111,327

107,373

7,309

6,724

7,309

6,724

18.4 Movement in the present value of the defined
benefit obligations
Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest costs

10,099

11,908

10,099

11,908

Benefits paid during the year

(6,422)

(25,100)

(6,422)

(25,100)

Actuarial (gains) / losses
Defined benefit obligations at the end of the year

(7,466)

10,422

(7,466)

10,422

114,847

111,327

114,847

111,327

(4,346)

(5,561)

(4,346)

(5,561)

18.5 Expense recognised in profit or loss
Expected return on plan assets

7,309

6,724

7,309

6,724

10,099

11,908

10,099

11,908

13,062

13,071

13,062

13,071

Current service cost
Interest costs on obligation

The expense is recognised in the administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
Group
LKR ‘000

2021

Company
2020

2021

2020

18.6 Actuarial gains and losses recognised in other
comprehensive income
Amount accumulated in retained earnings at 1 January

(3,026)

5,415

(3,026)

5,415

Recognised during the year

(6,903)

(8,441)

(6,903)

(8,441)

Amount accumulated in retained earnings at 31 December

(9,929)

(3,026)

(9,929)

(3,026)

18.7 Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows;
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

Rate of discount

11.0%

9.0%

11.0%

9.0%

Future salary increases

10.0%

8.0%

10.0%

8.0%

Assumptions regarding mortality are based on A 1967 / 70 Mortality Table, issued by The Institute of Actuaries, London.

18.8 Sensitivity analysis - salary escalation rate as at 31 December 2021
Estimated present value of defined benefit obligations

If rate is 9%

If rate is 11%

107,181,444

125,179,892

If rate is 10%

If rate is 12%

124,651,478

107,778,734

18.8 Sensitivity analysis - discount rate as at 31 December 2021
Estimated present value of defined benefit obligations
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18. Defined benefits (Contd.)

18.9 Historical information - Group & Company
LKR ‘000

2021

2019

2018

2017

47,377

48,292

50,550

102,635

103,883

(114,847)

(111,327)

(107,373)

(135,136)

(145,630)

(67,470)

(63,035)

(56,823)

(32,501)

(41,747)

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of the defined benefit obligation

2020

19. Other liabilities
Group
LKR ‘000

Deferred Liability

2020

2021

2020

1,005

901

-

-

18,495

18,599

-

-

19,500

19,500

-

-

Finance liability

19.1

Company

2021

The Group has entered into a 30 years lease agreement for land with Emergent Cold (Private) Limited on
29th January 2019, and Emergent Cold (Private) Limted has kept a refundable deposit of LKR. 19,500,000/- which is to
be paid after 30 years.

20. Trade and other payables
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

Trade payables

402,380

282,407

402,086

281,501

Other payables

458,628

381,424

432,639

350,145

861,008

663,831

834,725

631,646

21. Amounts due to related companies
Group
LKR ‘000

Note

Company

Relationship

2021

2020

James Finlay Ceylon (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

200

200

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

268,655

209,472

Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

114,331

86,631

Finlay Plantation Management (Pvt) Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

9,000

9,000

Finlay Airline Agencies Ltd

Subsidiary

-

-

8,347

8,347

Affiliate

105

105

105

105

Affiliate

1,233,139

-

1,233,139

-

1,233,244

105

1,633,777

313,755

James Finlay Kenya Ltd
James Finlay Plantation Holdings Lanka Ltd

21.1

2021

2020
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21. Amounts due to related companies (Contd.)

21.1

During the year under review, James Finlay Limited (UK) divested its ownership in Hapugastenne Plantations PLC
(HPL) and Udapussellawa Plantations PLC (UPL) on 27 December 2021. The amount payable represents sales
proceeds received with regard to the divestment, from James Finlay Planations Holdings Lanka Limited.

22. Revenue
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

6,160,611
88,132
6,248,743

5,395,473
260,389
5,655,862

5,992,211
7,937
6,000,148

5,395,473
81,603
5,477,076

22.1 Goods and services analysis
Sales of goods
Rendering of services

22.2 Segment information
Segment revenue
LKR ‘000

Segment result

2021

2020

2021

2020

6,243,399
149,423
7,937
6,400,759
(152,016)
6,248,743

5,611,652
135,877
81,603
5,829,132
(173,270)
5,655,862

788,748
108,973
667,666
1,565,387

640,098
100,324
1,747,214
2,487,636

151,669
(36,617)
1,680,439

84,405
(39,448)
2,532,593

22.2.1 Revenue and results - Group
Tea exports
Logistics
Others/unallocated
Inter-segment revenue
External revenue
Finance income
Finance cost
Profit before tax

22.2.2 Assets, liabilities, etc. - Group
Total assets
LKR ‘000

Tea exports
Logistics
Investments
Related company balances
Unallocated
Income tax (recoverable)/
liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other deferred liabilities

Total liabilities

Purchase of property,
plant & equipment

Depreciation and
amortisation

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

7,197,996
1,009,504
8,207,500
51,875

3,000,252
987,152
3,987,404
2,081,625

874,766
6,171
880,937
-

456,821
10,768
467,589
-

95,231
1,107
96,338
-

84,236
7,493
91,729
-

79,347
10,827
90,174
-

76,685
10,953
87,638
-

301,197
-

42,181
317,355
-

1,233,244
228,476
75,648

105
212,851
55,702

152,436
-

24,187
-

9,176
-

11,058
-

8,560,572

6,428,565

272,368
135,227
2,825,900

291,918
131,707
1,159,872

248,774 115,916

99,350

98,696
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22. Revenue (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

2021

Company
2020

2021

2020

22.2.3 Geographical segment
Revenue
Europe

43,728

68,352

43,728

68,352

America

425,791

536,807

425,791

536,807

4,966,734

4,387,475

4,966,734

4,387,475

Far East

447,393

283,158

447,393

283,158

Sri Lanka

292,947

298,363

44,352

119,577

Middle East

Rest of the world

72,150

81,707

72,150

81,707

6,248,743

5,655,862

6,000,148

5,477,076

23. Other income
Group
LKR ‘000

Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment
Sri Lanka Tea Board incentives
Profit on disposal of investment in equity accounted investee
Exchange gain
Sundry income

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

491

1,271

342

1,271

40,674

-

40,674

-

962,140

1,923,703

115,042

205,015

43,298

46,505

39,621

45,030

4,567

762

4,206

400

1,051,170

1,972,241

199,885

251,716

24. Finance income and finance cost
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

51,659

43,875

51,659

43,874

24.1 Finance income
Interest income on fixed and call deposits
Interest income on loans and receivables
Exchange gain on forward contracts / spot conversions
Dividend income

1,092

1,141

1,092

1,094

98,918

39,389

98,918

39,389

-

-

6,844

6,844

151,669

84,405

158,513

91,201
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24. Finance income and finance cost (Contd.)
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

7,395

4,796

7,395

4,748

29,222

32,719

29,222

32,719

24.2 Finance cost
Interest expense on overdrafts with banks
Export bills discounting charges
Exchange loss on forward contracts

Net Finance income recognised in profit or loss

-

1,933

-

1,933

36,617

39,448

36,617

39,400

115,052

44,957

121,896

51,801

25. Profit before tax
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

50,853

42,649

50,853

42,649

1,709

1,619

1,141

1,075

Stated after charging/crediting
Directors’ emoluments
Auditors’ remuneration - Statutory audit services

1,817

2,187

1,424

1,801

Depreciation

96,099

95,709

79,520

77,626

Amortisation

3,251

2,987

3,251

2,987

311,377

274,858

276,585

243,991

- Defined contribution plan costs - MSPS/EPF & ETF

24,616

23,554

21,440

20,814

- Defined benefit plan costs - insurance premium

68,349

63,915

68,349

63,915

Non-audit related services

Personnel costs include
- Salaries & wages

Legal fees

1,345

1,437

1,345

1,437

Donations

2,124

11,488

2,124

11,488

142,216

85,894

138,539

84,419

Exchange gains

491

1,271

342

1,271

Advertising

65,983

54,085

68,983

53,985

Provision/(reversal) for slow moving inventories

17,072

(27,597)

17,072

(19,267)

Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment
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26. Income tax expense
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

144,201

113,656

119,376

89,745

32,904

6,774

32,904

6,790

177,105

120,430

152,280

96,535

Property, plant and equipment

(18,807)

13,120

9,409

6,577

Income tax expense reported in the income statement

158,298

133,550

161,689

103,112

26.1 Current tax expense
Current tax expense on ordinary activities for the year
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years

26.2 Deferred tax expense
Charge/(release) made during the year from;

26.3

Reconciliation between accounting profit and taxable profit
Group

LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

1,680,439

2,532,593

685,611

707,533

Adjustments relating to disallowances

176,083

116,911

158,792

98,666

Adjustments relating to capital allowances

151,230

(135,722)

(144,298)

(128,955)

-

(1,768,018)

-

(36,207)

2,007,752

745,764

700,105

641,037

14% - 24%

14% - 28%

14% - 24%

14%

Income tax payable on profit

144,201

113,656

119,376

89,745

Current income tax expense

144,201

113,656

119,376

89,745

Accounting profit before tax

Adjustments relating to allowable income
Taxable profit

Statutory tax rate %

26.4

Finlays Colombo Limited is liable for income tax at 14% on export income and 24% on non-export income from the
year of assessment 2021/2022 under the Inland Revenue (amendment) Act No. 10 of 2021.

26.5

Finlay Properties (Pvt) Ltd is liable to pay income tax at the rate of 24% from the year of assessment 2021/2022.

26.6

Finlay Teas (Pvt) Ltd is liable to pay income tax at the rate of 14% from the year of assessment 2021/2022.

26.7

Deferred tax has been computed using the future effective tax rate. i.e. 14% - 24%.
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27. Earnings per share
27.1

Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

1,522,141

2,399,043

523,922

604,421

35,000

35,000

35,000

35,000

Basic earnings per share (in LKR)

43.49

68.54

14.97

17.27

Diluted earnings per share (in LKR) (Note 27.2)

43.49

68.54

14.97

17.27

Amount used as the numerator:
Net profit attributable to:
Ordinary shareholders for basic earnings per share (LKR '000)

Number of ordinary shares used as denominator:
Number of ordinary shares in issue ('000)

27.2

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year after adjustment for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.			
As at 31 December 2021 and as at 31 December 2020 there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares. Hence diluted
earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share.

28. Dividend per share
The dividend per share is based on the dividends paid during the period covered by the financial statements
Group
LKR ‘000

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

1,050,000

-

1,050,000

-

Dividends paid
Final dividend 2020 - LKR 30.00 per share
Interim dividend 2020 - LKR 30.00 per share

-

1,050,000

-

1,050,000

Interim dividend 2020 - LKR 171.00 per share

-

5,985,000

-

5,985,000

1,050,000

7,035,000

1,050,000

7,035,000

30.00

201.00

30.00

201.00

Dividend per ordinary share (in LKR)

29. Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted but not provided for in the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was LKR Nil (2020 - LKR Nil).
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30. Contingencies
(a) Bills discounted at reporting date awaiting realisation
amounted to LKR 422 million (2020 - LKR 1,061
million).

taxable income of such individual, partnership or company,
for such year of assessment. The proposed surcharge tax
has not been accounted for in these financial statements
of the Group on December 31, 2021 as the said Bill is not
considered to be substantially enacted as per LKAS – 12 as
of the Reporting date.

(b) Bank guarantees pertaining to imports at the reporting date
amounted to LKR 120 million (2020 - LKR 93 million).
(c) Notice of Income Tax Assessment
The Inland Revenue Department has initiated and
engaged on discussions with the Company regarding
capital gain tax arising on disposal of Finlay Cold Storage
(Pvt) Limited. If and when a formal assessment is
raised, the Company intends to lodge an appeal against
the assessment and will contest this under appellate
procedure. Having discussed with independent legal and
tax experts and based on the information available, the
contingent liability (less penalties, if applicable) as at 31st
March 2022 is estimated at Rs. 399 million.
Therefore, under the current circumstances it is envisaged
that the ultimate resolution of the above contingency is
unlikely to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial position of the Group.

31. Events occurring after the reporting date
There were no other material events occurring after the
reporting date as at 31 December 2021 that require
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.

Surcharge Tax
The Surcharge Tax was proposed in Budget 2022, as a onetime tax. As per the Gazette published on February 07,
2022, Surcharge Tax is payable by any individual, partnership,
company or each company of a group of companies (holding
and subsidiaries) subject to the taxable income threshold as
specified in the Bill. There shall be levied a Surcharge Tax
on any individual, partnership or company, whose taxable
income calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Inland Revenue Act No. 24 of 2017, exceeds rupees two
thousand million, for the year of assessment commenced on
April 01, 2020, at the rate of twenty-five per centum on the

32. Assets pledged
There were no assets pledged as at the reporting date.

33. Comparative information
Except for the adoption of new accounting standards and
interpretations with effect from 01 January 2021, the
Company has consistently applied the accounting policies
with those adopted in the previous financial year. The
presentation and classification of the financial statements
of the previous period, have been adjusted, where relevant,
for better presentation. The impact of adopting these new
accounting standards and interpretations are disclosed in
relevant notes in the financial statements.
As at year end the balance receivable from Hapugastenne
Plantations PLC has been classfied under Trade Debtors from
Amount due to related companies.
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34. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the Financial Statements
The Company’s response to the pandemic focused on securing
a safe work environment for the employees, continuing the
business operations, providing the customers with quality
and safe services and supporting our communities as a
socially responsible corporate citizen.
As encouraged by the Sri Lankan Government, the Company
being a business operating in the provision of Business
Services industry/sector, we were able to continue our

operations amidst COVID-19. Due to the strategic response
to the pandemic, all the business segments operated
smoothly.
The Company continued to work towards securing business
continuity and providing safe and quality services to
consumers while ensuring the health and well-being of all
employees at all the Company’s locations.

35. Director’s responsibility statement
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

36. Related party disclosure
The Company carried out transactions in the ordinary course of its business with parties who are defined as related parties in
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 24 - Related Party Disclosures, the details of which are reported below. The consideration for
the goods and services provided has been paid or accrued at market prices prevailing at that time.
LKR ‘000

2021

2020

(66,223)

(54,108)

36.1 Transactions with subsidiary companies
Nature of transaction
Rent Paid
Allocation of common expenses
Fund transfers
Salary re-charged
Purchase of goods/services

3,812

3,334

35,000

80,000

1,395

5,458

(82,788)

(115,797)
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36. Related party disclosure (Contd.)
LKR ‘000

2021

2020

Rent received

-

16,450

Rendering of services

-

4,602

Allocation of common expenses

-

3,038

357,262

296,537

36.2 Transactions with other related companies
Nature of transaction

Sale of goods/services
Purchase of goods/services
Reimbursement of expenses
Cost recovery
Funds payable on disposal of HPL & UPL

-

(39,138)

(24,948)

(24,684)

-

23,070

(1,233,139)

-

36.3

Subsidiary companies have periodically transferred surplus cash to the Holding Company, whereas the Holding
Company has also met the cash requirements of those subsidiary companies as necessary. The resultant net balances
have been shown in Notes 12 and 21 to these financial statements.

36.4

From time to time Directors of the Group, or their related entities, may transact with the Group. These transactions
are on the same terms and conditions as those entered in to by other customers.

36.5

Related party transactions with key management personnel
According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, Key Management Personnel
(KMPs), are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity. Accordingly, the Board of Directors (including Executive and Non-Executive Directors) and their Close Family
Members (CFM) have been classified as KMPs of the Company.
CFM of the KMPs are those family members who may be expected to influence or be influenced by KMPs in their
dealings with the entity. They may include KMPs domestic partner and children of the KMPs domestic partner and
dependants of the KMPs and the KMPs domestic partner.
The Group has paid LKR 50.8 million (2020 - LKR 42.6 million) to the Directors as emoluments, of which LKR
46.4 million (2020 - LKR 39.2 million) was paid as short-term employment benefits and LKR 4.4 million (2020 LKR 3.4 million) was paid as post-employment benefits during the year. Other than that there are no transactions,
arrangements and agreements involving key management personnel and other related parties.
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13.2

Bank overdrafts

20

21

13.2

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents

13.1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value
through
OCI

8,238,180

248,405

1,633,777

834,725

4,595,670

-

925,603

8,011,970

248,405

1,233,244

861,008

4,629,673

-

1,039,640

Amortised
cost

Carrying amount (LKR ‘000)
Fair value
through
profit or loss

-

11

Trade and other receivables

-

Amounts due from related companies 12

Financial assets

31 December 2021

Company

20

21

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Financial liabilities

-

Amounts due from related companies 12

Cash and cash equivalents

13.1

-

Fair value
hedging
instruments

11

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2021

Group

Note

8,238,180

248,405

1,633,777

834,725

4,595,670

-

925,603

8,011,970

248,405

1,233,244

861,008

4,629,673

-

1,039,640

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 3

Fair Value (LKR ‘000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not
include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

37.1 Accounting classifications and fair values

37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management

54
FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December

12

13.1

14

Amounts due from related companies

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets held for sale

13.2

Bank overdrafts

20

21

13.2

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities

-

13.1

14

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets held for sale

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Amounts due from related companies 12

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value
through
OCI

3,536,261

(16,609)

(313,755)

(631,646)

2,876,051

1,440,329

42,181

139,710

3,104,149

(16,609)

(105)

(663,831)

2,028,953

1,494,337

42,181

219,223

Amortised
cost

Carrying amount (LKR ‘000)
Fair value
through
profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value
hedging
instruments

11

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2020

Company

20

21

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to related companies

Financial liabilities

11

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets

31 December 2020

Group

Notes

37.1 Accounting classifications and fair values (Cont.)

37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)

3,536,261

(16,609)

(313,755)

(631,646)

2,876,051

1,440,329

42,181

139,710

3,104,149

(16,609)

(105)

(663,831)

2,028,953

1,494,337

42,181

219,223

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level 3

Fair Value (LKR ‘000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total
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37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)

37.2 Fair value measurement
37.2.1 Fair value measurement hierarchy
The Group and the Company use the following hierarchy
for determining and disclosing the fair value of assets and
liabilities by valuation techniques:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data

37.3 Financial risk management
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from
financial instruments.
n Credit risk
n Liquidity risk
n Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure
to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Group’s management of capital.
Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop
a disciplined and constructive control environment in which
all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group Audit Committee monitors the process through
which business risks are identified for action by management
and for the Board’s attention and monitors the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal controls. The Group Audit

Committee is assisted in its role by Internal Audit. Internal
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the
Audit Committee.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from
the Group’s receivables from customers and investment
securities.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the
maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was as follows.
LKR ’000

2021

2020

-

-

Trade and other receivables

1,039,640

219,223

Cash and Cash Equivalents

4,629,673 1,494,337

Other investments, including derivatives

Amounts due from related companies
Total

-

42,181

5,669,313 1,755,741

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. However,
management also considers the demographics of the Group’s
customer base, including the default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate, as these factors may
have an influence on credit risk. During 2021, approximately
62% (2020: 59%) of the Group’s revenue was attributable to
sales transactions with three multinational customers.
Each new customer is analysed individually for
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and
delivery terms and conditions are offered. Customers that
fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a pre-payment basis.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
trade and other receivables. The main components of this
allowance are a specific loss component that relates to
individually significant exposures, and a collective loss
component established for groups of similar assets in respect
of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The
collective loss allowance is determined based on historical
data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.
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37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)
The maximum exposure to credit risk for
trade and other receivables at the reporting
date by geographic region was as follows.
LKR ’000

Europe
America
Middle East
Far East
Sri Lanka
Total

2021

2020

1,043

-

16,674

-

732,947

11,209

67,412

21,411

221,564

186,603

1,039,640

219,223

Impairment losses
Trade and other receivables at the reporting
date were not impaired. As at 31 December
2021 provision for impairment of the Group
amounted to LKR 24.4 million (2020 – LKR
24.4 million).
Cash and cash equivalents
The Group held net cash and cash
equivalents of LKR 4,381 million at 31
December 2021 (2020: LKR 1,478 million),
which represents its maximum credit
exposure on these assets. The cash and cash
equivalents are held with banks. Respective
credit ratings of banks in which Group cash
balances are held are as follows;
n Standard Chartered Bank – AAA(lka)
n Hongkong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Ltd – AA-(lka)
n Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC –

AA-(lka)
n Sampath Bank PLC – AA-(lka)
n Hatton National Bank PLC –AA-(lka)
n National Development Bank PLC –

A+(lka)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
will encounter difficulty in meeting the
obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure,
as far as possible, that it will always have

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group’s reputation.
The Group maintains the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount
in excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities (other than trade
payables) over the succeeding 60 days. The Group also monitors the level of
expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with expected
cash outflows on trade and other payables. In addition, the Group maintains
a LKR 395.5 million overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest would be
payable at the market rate.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities
As at 31 December 2021
LKR ’000

Carrying
Value

Contractual
Cash flows

2 Months
or Less

2 to 12
Months

861,008

783,456

77,552

1,233,244 1,233,139

105

Non-Derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to related
companies
Bank overdrafts
Total

As at 31 December 2020
LKR ’000

861,008
1,233,244
248,405
2,342,657

248,405

-

2,342,657 2,265,000

248,405

77,657

Carrying
Value

Contractual
Cash flows

2 Months
or Less

2 to 12
Months

663,831

663,831

662,317

1,514

105

105

105

-

Non-Derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to related
companies
Bank overdrafts
Total

16,609

16,609

16,609

-

680,545

680,545

679,031

1,514

The gross inflows/(outflows) disclosed in the previous table represent the
contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to derivative financial liabilities
held for risk management purposes and which are usually not closed out
prior to contractual maturity. The disclosure shows net cash flow amounts
for derivatives that are net cash settled and gross cash inflow and outflow
amounts for derivatives that have simultaneous gross cash settlement, e.g.
forward exchange contracts.
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis would
occur significantly earlier or at a significantly different amount.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange
rates, interest rates and equity prices, will affect the Group’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December

37. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (Contd.)
Hedging Policy
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases
and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other
than Sri Lankan Rupees.
The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its
currency risk, most with a maturity of less than one year from
the reporting date. Such contracts generally are designated
as cash flow hedges.
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group’s policy is to
ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level
by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when
necessary to address short-term imbalances.
Interest rate risk
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
and the Group does not designate derivatives as hedging
instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date
would not affect profit or loss.
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as
to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. Capital consists
of ordinary shares, retained earnings of the Group. The Board
of Directors monitors the return on capital as well as the
level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. The Group’s net
debt to adjusted equity ratio at the reporting date was as
follows;
LKR ’000

2021

2020

2,825,900

1,159,872

Less: cash and cash
equivalents

(4,629,673)

(1,494,337)

Net debt

(1,803,773)

(334,465)

5,734,672

5,268,693

-

-

5,734,672

5,268,693

(31%)

(6%)

Total liabilities

Total equity
Amounts accumulated in equity
related to cash flow hedges
Adjusted equity
Net debt to adjusted equity
ratio as at 31 December

Notes
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NOTICE OF MEETING
FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED – PQ 61 PB
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE FORTY SEVENTH (47TH) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 29TH JUNE 2022
AT 11.00 A.M., AS AN AUDIO OR AUDIO/VISUAL MEETING WITH ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ONLINE
MEETING PLATFORM MADE AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY AT NO. 309/6/A, NEGOMBO
ROAD, WELISARA, RAGAMA.

AGENDA
1. To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of the Company and the
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st December 2021 together with the Report of the Auditors
thereon.
2. To re-elect Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
3. To re-elect Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
4. To re-elect Mr. J. M. Rutherford, who in terms of Articles 145 & 146 of the Articles of Association of the
Company retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting, as a Director.
5. To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities up to a limit of LKR 2,500,000/- for the
financial year ending 31st December 2022.
6. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine
their remuneration.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED
S S P CORPORATE SERVICES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

SECRETARIES
6th June, 2022

Note:1. A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself/herself. A Form of Proxy
accompanies this notice.
2. The completed Form of Proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office, No. 309/6/A, Negombo Road,
Welisara, Ragama, not less than forty-eight hours before the time fixed for the Meeting.
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FORM OF PROXY
I/We the undersigned………………………………………….…………............................................…NIC No. ..……......................................................
of …………………………………………............................…………….............................................................…….................................................................
being a *member/members of Finlays Colombo Limited hereby appoint (i) ……………....................................……………………………………
..……………………………………………………………………………………....................................................NIC No. ……..….............………….......................
of……………………………………………………………………………...……………………….........................................................................or failing him/her
(ii) Mr. N. H. G. S. Jayasinghe, Chairman & Managing Director of Finlays Colombo Limited, or failing him, any one of the
Directors of the Company as *my/our proxy to vote as indicated hereunder for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the 47th
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 29th June 2022, at 11.00 a.m. as an Audio or Audio/
Visual meeting with arrangements for the online meeting platform made at the registered office of the Company at No.
309/6/A, Negombo Road, Welisara, Ragama and at every poll which may be taken in consequence of the aforesaid meeting
and at any adjournment thereof.
For

Against

1. To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs
of the Company and the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st December
2021, together with the Report of the Auditors thereon.
2. To re-elect Mr. B. V. S. Ruwan, who retires by rotation in terms of Articles 145 &
146 of the Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.
3. To re-elect Mr. E. D. P. Soosaipillai, who retires by rotation in terms of Articles 145
& 146 of the Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.
4. To re-elect Mr. J. M. Rutherford, who retires by rotation in terms of Articles 145 &
146 of the Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.
5. To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities up to a limit of
LKR 2,500,000/- for the financial year ending 31st December 2022.
6. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants, as Auditors and to authorise
the Directors to determine their remuneration.

Signed this ……………………. day of …………………Two Thousand and Twenty Two.
…………………………..
Signature of Shareholder/s
Note
(a) *Please delete the inappropriate words.
(b) Instructions are noted on the reverse hereof.

Please provide the following details
Name of the Shareholder			

: ....................................................................

Email Address of the Shareholder		

: ....................................................................

CDS A/C No./NIC No./Company Reg. No.

: ....................................................................

Folio No./No. of Shares held		

: ....................................................................

Name of the Proxy holder			

: ....................................................................

Email Address of the Proxy holder		

: ....................................................................

Proxy holder’s ID No. (if not a Director)

: ....................................................................
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INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION
1. In terms of Article 125 of the Articles of Association of the Company:
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his Attorney
duly authorised in writing, or where the appointer is a Corporation, either under its common seal or
signed by its Attorney or by an officer on behalf of the Corporation.
2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
In terms of Article 131 of the Articles of Association of the Company:
Any Corporation which is a member of the Company may, by resolution of its Directors or other
governing body, authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the
Company or of any class of members of the Company, and the person so authorised shall be entitled
to exercise the same powers on behalf of such Corporation as the Corporation could exercise if it were
an individual member of the Company.
3. In terms of Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company:
In the case of joint-holders of a share the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy,
shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint-holders; and for this purpose seniority
shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register of Members.
4. Kindly indicate with an X in the space provided how your proxy is to vote on each resolution. If no
indication is given, the proxy in his/her discretion will vote as he/she thinks fit. Every alteration or
addition to the Form of Proxy must be duly authenticated by the full signature of the shareholder
signing the Form of Proxy.
5. To be valid, this Form of Proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, No. 309/6/A,
Negombo Road, Welisara, Ragama by Monday, 27th June 2022, being forty-eight (48) hours before the
holding of the meeting.
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Finlays Colombo Limited
309/6/A, Negombo Road,
Welisara, Ragama,
Sri Lanka.

63

64

FINLAYS COLOMBO LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

T R A D I T I O N M E E T S I N N OVAT I O N

